

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region Report on a series of intercountry meetings October 2012 – February 2013

ABSTRACT

A series of four intercountry meetings on the verification process for measles and rubella elimination in the European Region of the World Health Organization (WHO) were held between October 2012 and February 2013. The goal of these meetings was to brief all Member States on the proposed framework for verification of elimination of measles and rubella and the format and requirements of the annual reporting system. The meetings also reviewed performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination, the terms of reference for national verification committees and their relationships and reporting procedures with the Regional Verification Commission and the WHO Secretariat. The meeting report summarizes the discussions, presentations and RVC recommendations.

KEYWORDS

COMMUNICABLE DISEASE CONTROL
SEASE ELIMINATION
INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION
MEASLES
PUBLIC HEALTH
RUBELLA

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications
WHO Regional Office for Europe
UN City, Marmorvej 51
DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office web site (http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest).

© World Health Organization 2014

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either express or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use. The views expressed by authors, editors, or expert groups do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

Contents

	Executive summary	4
	Introduction	5
	Conclusions and recommendations	7
	General issues	7
	Immunization programmes	7
	Outbreaks	8
	Surveillance	8
	Sustainability of immunization programmes	9
	Public acceptance and communication	9
	Verification process and preparation of ASR	10
	Presentations and discussions	12
	Plenary Session 1. Regional measles and rubella elimination	12
	Update from the WHO Regional Office for Europe	12
	Plenary Session 2. Process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO Europe Region	
	Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components	13
	Essential criteria and performance indicators	16
	Establishment of national verification committees – terms of reference and relationship wit the RVC and the WHO Secretariat	
	Group work Session 1: Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and available of relevant data in participating Member States	•
	Barriers and solutions for immunizing hard to reach communities	23
	Group work session 2: Priority actions to meet the 2015 elimination goal	23
	Feedback from the groups	23
Α	nnex 1: Provisional programmes (by meeting)	26
Α	nnex 2: List of participants (by meeting)	32

Executive summary

A series of four intercountry meetings on the verification process for measles and rubella elimination in the European Region of the World Health Organization (WHO) were held between October 2012 and February 2013. The goal of these meetings was to brief all Member States on the proposed framework for verification of elimination of measles and rubella and the format and requirements of the annual reporting system. The meetings also served to review performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination, and to discuss the terms of reference for national verification committees (NVCs) and their relationships and reporting procedures with the Regional Verification Commission (RVC) and the WHO Secretariat.

Meetings were held in Tashkent, Uzbekistan, 23–24 October 2012; Copenhagen, Denmark, 29–30 January 2013; Rome, Italy, 12–13 February 2013; and Sofia, Bulgaria, 27–28 February 2013. The meetings in Copenhagen, Rome and Sofia were supported by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). The full RVC attended the meeting in Tashkent, and two members represented the RVC at the meetings in Copenhagen, Rome and Sofia.

While many of the participating countries had formally established an NVC by the time of the meetings, many others had not, intending to use participation in the meeting as a stimulus to finalize the process. Considerable progress had already been made in the Region toward achieving high-quality routine immunization coverage and sensitive surveillance systems for measles and rubella. Routine rubella reporting, however, was not in place in some countries and surveillance for congenital rubella syndrome (CRS) continued to be a challenge for many. Despite the regional commitment to measles and rubella elimination, financial crisis challenges were making it more difficult to maintain high-level political, financial and public support for immunization services in general.

The first annual report on measles and rubella elimination was expected by the end of July 2013. While most Member States representatives were confident that the reporting requirements could be met, several were concerned that it might not be possible to report fully on the required surveillance indicators. For these countries further clarification and explanation may be helpful on the nature and extent of supplemental and additional evidence that can be provided to demonstrate the status of measles and rubella elimination activities.

The RVC expressed support for the documents, indicators and tools established by the WHO Secretariat, as a good foundation for monitoring and reporting progress toward measles and rubella elimination. The RVC agreed to assess needs for further modifications following submission of the first annual status reports.

Introduction

The Health for All Policy Framework for the WHO European Region, approved by the WHO Regional Committee for Europe in 1998, identified the targets of eliminating measles by 2007 and reducing the incidence of CRS to <1 case per 100 000 live births by 2010. The WHO Regional Committee for Europe at its 55th session in 2005 adapted the proposed resolution to include rubella elimination as a regional target and proposed 2010 as the elimination target for both diseases. Although WHO MS had made significant progress towards measles and rubella elimination, the goals were not achieved by 2010. The WHO Regional Committee for Europe conducted an in-depth review of the status of measles and rubella elimination in the Region and concluded at its 60th session (September 2010) that the regional measles and rubella elimination goals were achievable; and a new target date of 2015 was established.

In 2009, WHO Regional Office for Europe initiated the process of defining the steps for documenting and verifying the elimination of measles and rubella and prevention of CRS. This process included establishing the Regional Verification Commission (RVC) for Measles and Rubella Elimination. The RVC is an independent group of experts with responsibility for verifying measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region. The Vaccine Preventable Diseases and Immunization Programme (VPI) of the WHO Regional Office for Europe serve as the Secretariat to the RVC. Regional verification of measles and rubella elimination requires that all countries in the Region provide credible evidence they have been free from endemic measles and rubella virus transmission for at least three consecutive years.

To initiate the documentation on progress towards measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region, the Regional Office developed a framework for the verification process. The RVC adopted this framework during its first meeting on 24-25 January 2012 at the WHO Regional Office in Copenhagen, Denmark. During this meeting the RVC recommended that each WHO Member State establish its own national verification committee (NVC). The RVC also recommended that the RVC Secretariat develop a standard format for country annual progress reports: the Measles and Rubella Elimination Annual Status Report (ASR).

Meeting participants and objectives

A series of four intercountry meetings were established to brief all MS on the framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region and the format and requirements of the Annual Status Report.

The primary purpose of this series of meetings was to increase awareness, knowledge and understanding within Member State (MS) of the verification process of measles and rubella elimination in the European Region. The meetings also served to increase understanding and knowledge among RVC members with regard to current national capacities to document measles and rubella elimination according to the Measles and Rubella Elimination Framework developed by the Regional Office. These meetings provided the first opportunity for establishing close collaboration between NVCs (and prospective NVC members from the participating MS) and the RVC for initiating the measles/rubella elimination status annual reporting process.

The specific objectives were:

- to update newly established NVCs on the framework and process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region;
- to review performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating MS;
- to review the terms of reference for the NVCs;
- to review operational procedures for the NVCs and their relationship with the RVC and the WHO Secretariat;
- to discuss the use of the verification process to accelerate actions towards the measles and rubella elimination goals, including increasing vaccination coverage with measles- and rubella-containing vaccines and strengthening surveillance.

The meetings were held in:

- Tashkent, Uzbekistan, 23-24 October 2012 (including representatives from Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Republic of Moldova, Russian Federation, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine and Uzbekistan);
- Copenhagen, Denmark, 29-30 January 2013 (including representatives from Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom);
- Rome, Italy, 12-13 February 2013 (including representatives from Cyprus, France, Greece, Israel, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Slovenia and Spain);
- **Sofia**, Bulgaria, 27-28 February 2013 (including representatives from Albania, Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, and Turkey).

The meetings in Copenhagen, Rome and Sofia were supported both technically and financially by the European Centre of Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). The full RVC attended the meeting in Tashkent; and two RVC members were present on behalf of the full RVC at the meetings in Copenhagen, Rome and Sofia. A full list of all participants at each meeting is provided in annex 2.

Conclusions and recommendations

The subregional meetings were a critical step in initiation of the verification process of measles and rubella elimination in the European Region. The RVC noted that the intercountry meetings provided an excellent opportunity for the WHO Secretariat to share information on the regional verification process, including more details and clarifications on requirements where needed. The meetings were also seen as an opportunity for MS representatives:

- to share experiences;
- to discuss their concerns and challenges in establishing NVCs;
- to define their roles, responsibilities and national and regional support mechanisms; and
- to provide input into the process.

The following summary covers issues discussed at all four meetings and the corresponding recommendations expressed by the attending RVC members.

General issues

The RVC was pleased that 27 of 53 MS in the Region reported that an NVC was already established. The RVC and the Secretariat understood that some MS had waited to obtain information at the subregional meetings before initiating the process.

Recommendations

The RVC and Secretariat urged MS that had not yet established NVCs to form them as soon as possible and provide a list of members and their contact details to the Secretariat. All NVCs and MS were reminded that the first annual status report on measles and rubella elimination was expected by the end of July 2013. The Secretariat agreed to follow up with MS and support them with all available capacities.

The RVC and the WHO Secretariat appreciated the discussions on issues related to policy and technical guidelines, and agreed to communicate concerns raised by some MS regarding current targets, elimination strategies, indicators and criteria for elimination to WHO headquarters and the WHO Regional Office for Europe and their respective groups of technical experts (SAGE and ETAGE).

Immunization programmes

Measles- and rubella-containing vaccines are part of the routine immunization programme in all MS. However, the vaccine schedules and (gender and age) policies of national immunization programmes differ significantly among countries. While overall national vaccination coverage is good, the following challenges remain in achieving the required coverage of \geq 95% with two doses of measles-containing vaccine in all communities:

- MS use different methodologies to assess and monitor immunization coverage (e.g. administrative data vs. surveys; coverage with second dose vs. coverage with two doses);
- coverage with the second dose of measles- and rubella-containing vaccines is unacceptably low in many MS; and
- some MS are challenged with subnational areas or subpopulations with less than optimal vaccine coverage. It is also possible that specific populations are not recognized in some MS until they are affected by an outbreak.

Recommendations

Concerned that information on immunization coverage currently collected by MS might be insufficient and inadequate for documenting elimination, the RVC recommended that the Secretariat follow up on this issue and review information provided by MS through reporting of coverage with vaccines included in national routine immunization programmes.

Outbreaks

The RVC noted reports on measles outbreaks in the Region, documenting that most cases are among unimmunized or incompletely immunized persons, with a diversity of reasons noted by MS.

Recommendations

- The RVC suggested that MS address suboptimal vaccine coverage rates to prevent further
 outbreaks. In addition, immunization activities conducted as part of outbreak control measures
 should be used as a cornerstone for further advocacy for immunization and eventual tailored
 supplemental immunization activates to address recognized gaps in immunity in the affected
 and general population.
- MS, especially those affected by nationwide outbreaks, may consider conducting economic and social studies to clarify the burden of measles, rubella and CRS, thereby justifying prioritization of funds and resources.

Surveillance

According to data presented and following discussions with MS, there are significant differences in the quality of surveillance in the Region. The RVC understood that MS consider their national measles surveillance systems to be of high quality and capable of detecting and investigating all suspected cases. At the same time, not all MS had established national rubella and CRS surveillance systems; and a significant number of MS recognized many challenges and the need for improvements in rubella surveillance. Some countries have well-established and functioning surveillance for rubella in pregnancy. Notification of CRS cases exists in all MS, but with a variety of regulations and requirements, and in some cases does not constitute a systematic surveillance system.

Case-based surveillance is critical for elimination and eradication of diseases – and there are currently no other surveillance methods to replace it. Acknowledging the challenges and limitations of rubella case-based surveillance, the RVC underlined that it will be very difficult to achieve verification of rubella elimination without effective case-based surveillance in all MS.

The RVC commended the establishment of a national rubella surveillance system in Germany, and looked forward to the further decisions and activities of health authorities in Belgium, Denmark and France that may lead to establishing rubella surveillance in those countries.

Laboratory support of surveillance for measles and rubella is extremely important for elimination, and all MS had or were developing capacities as recommended for high-quality laboratory-based surveillance in the country and in the Region. The regional network of reference laboratories was functioning well; and genotyping of the measles viruses was improving.

Recommendations

- The RVC recognized that surveillance quality needs to be improved in several countries, especially reporting and analysis of case-based surveillance data for measles and rubella.
- More efforts are needed to maintain the measles rubella laboratory network and make more genetic data available for rubella in RubeNS database.
- Surveillance systems in countries will clearly benefit from better integration/linkage, in a timely manner, of epi and lab data at country level.
- RVC encouraged WHO and ECDC to continue to work together to improve consistency of case definitions and reporting procedures.

Sustainability of immunization programmes

All Member States made a political commitment to measles and rubella elimination by adapting the WHO Regional Committee and World Health Assembly resolutions. In many countries, however, measles and rubella elimination activities have remained grossly underfunded and underresourced.

The RVC noted that most MS representatives believe in sustainability of their national measles and rubella elimination activities, at least in the medium term. Some MS stressed challenges in vaccine supply related to ensuring sustainable adequate funding and complicated procurement procedures. Both challenges are often out of the influence of technical experts and depend on real commitment of the national authorities.

Concerns were expressed regarding the difficulty of providing evidence for sustainability, as requested for annual reporting to the RVC. Further discussion with the RVC and Secretariat may be helpful in developing additional or alternative indicators of sustainability. At the same time, the RVC and the Secretariat agreed to consider all additional information that MS provide on sustainability of the immunization programme, as a basis for developing additional and alternative indicators.

The RVC strongly supported the position that further evidence on the cost—effectiveness of measles and rubella elimination would be helpful in gaining effective support of decision-makers for the elimination and verification process, particularly in Member States with well-established routine measles and rubella control programmes that are competing with other national health priorities for funding and resources.

Recommendations

- Every opportunity should be taken by WHO and the RVC to appraise national decision-makers of
 the implicit obligations to provide national resources, including human resources in support of
 the agreed elimination goals and activities. The RVC supported the recommendation from
 countries to send an official letter from WHO, the European Commission and the RVC to the
 Minister of Health of all MS outlining the issues and underlining their responsibilities.
- MS were encouraged to communicate with WHO about any challenges they were facing regarding the sustainability of their national immunization programmes, especially related to measles and rubella immunization.

Public acceptance and communication

Due to the success of immunization programmes in general, there has been a decline in appreciation of the value of vaccination, by both the public and health care professionals. This kind of attitude

among some health care professionals requires special consideration. This is a common problem and needs to be addressed as a matter of urgency, particularly in some MS. There is a need to increase capacities in the MS and improve strategies for pro-vaccination communications, towards positive behavioural changes regarding immunization. Better training of health care professionals is critical and an urgent concern for many Member States.

The RVC recognized that European Immunization Week (EIW) offers an excellent opportunity to promote the measles and rubella elimination initiative and raise awareness on the needs of the validation process, and examples from countries confirms this.

Recommendations

- The Secretariat and MS should take full advantage of EIW, in order to move towards the regional elimination goal of 2015.
- As WHO and ECDC have already developed some tools and strategies for improved immunization communications, the RVC recommended better dissemination and full open access to these tools and strategies to all MS. At the same time, MS were strongly invited to implement these strategies and share their own strategies, tools and experiences. Further development of tools and strategies to address the increasing threat posed by the antiimmunization lobby was encouraged.

Verification process and preparation of ASR

Clarification and explanation of the reporting requirements for verification are provided in the *Framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region*, and it is critical that MS follow these instructions. The ASR must be authorized by an independent National Verification Committee and include data collected by national programmes in their routine disease surveillance and immunization monitoring process, together with any relevant additional information.

The RVC expressed support for the current documents, indicators and tools established by the WHO Secretariat, including the SharePoint workspace, as these provide a good foundation for monitoring and reporting progress toward measles and rubella elimination.

The RVC acknowledged that preparation of the first report will probably involve an additional workload, but subsequent annual reports should be easier to prepare and should not require any additional work above that required for routine collection, analysis and reporting of national immunization and disease control data. The RVC understood concerns voiced by representatives from several MS over the prospect of a requirement for double- or multiple reporting of national data to a range of national and international bodies and agencies.

In most MS national public health systems already collect and can provide the majority of the required information. However, MS also stressed that some of the required information is not easily available, or cannot be feasibly collected by the systems currently available.

Diversity of existing surveillance and immunization monitoring systems in countries and the manner in which these systems have been developed (to meet national needs over many years) may be a challenge for providing documentation on elimination activities and achievements in the standard format currently required by the verification process.

Recommendations

- MS were urged to make best use of the Framework and the SharePoint and any suggestions on how they can be further improved should be communicated to the RVC and Secretariat. The RVC and the Secretariat agreed to consider all comments, suggestions and questions raised by MS at the meetings and during the initiation year 2013, as issues to be addressed, incorporated and answered in further development and implementation of verification documents and processes in general.
- The Secretariat would contact some of the MS requesting that they start piloting the annual verification activities by submitting annual reports earlier, in April and May 2013.
- The RVC asked MS for more comprehensive implementation of already existing appropriate legal and technical frameworks and structures in their national immunization programmes and surveillance systems, to ensure that the data required for verification is made available.
- Considering that some MS may face challenges in meeting all of the standard formal
 documentation requirements and may not provide surveillance indicators as required, the RVC
 recommended that the Secretariat provide further clarification and explanation on the nature
 and extent of supplemental and additional evidence, demonstrating the status of measles and
 rubella elimination activities. Given the diverse nature of national information management
 systems in use in MS, it will be necessary to address the issue of supplementary information and
 provide support on a country-by-country basis.
- The RVC and Secretariat will consider modifications of the process and requirements in the upcoming years, based on the actual situation in countries of the Region and WHO requirements towards global measles (and rubella) eradication.

Presentations and discussions

The following summarizes the presentations given at the four meetings. More details can be found in the *Framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region* and the *Measles and rubella elimination annual status report,* for the year 2012 (available at <a href="http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-do/health-topics/communicable-diseases/measles-and-rubella/publications/2012/eliminating-measles-and-rubella-framework-for-the-verification-process-in-the-who-european-region).

Plenary Session 1. Regional measles and rubella elimination

Update from the WHO Regional Office for Europe

Based on information provided by MS through the WHO/UNICEF joint reporting forms (JRF), measles incidence in the Region declined considerably during the past 10 years. The reported case incidence dropped from 703 cases per million in 2002 to only 22 cases per million by August 2012. The percentage of reported cases with laboratory confirmation has increased since 2010, indicating improved case follow up and specimen collection. The reported incidence of rubella also remains low, at 21 cases per million by August 2012. There are major concerns, however, that rubella reporting remains weak in many countries (and non-existent in some), and that rubella remains significantly underreported in the Region.

Reported national routine immunization coverage for both measles and rubella remain high across the Region, but the 2010 goal of measles and rubella elimination was not met. Large outbreaks of both measles and rubella have continued to occur not only in countries considered to have maintained long-term transmission but also in countries previously considered measles-free. Large measles outbreaks occurred in Bulgaria, France and Ukraine during 2010–2012. Epidemiologic analysis shows that in several countries older children and adults are a significant risk group for measles, with 52.2% of reported cases between 2009–2012 occurring in age groups 10 years and above.

In addition to the larger age cohort at risk, immunization programmes are facing additional challenges due to an apparent widespread decline in awareness of the importance and benefits of vaccination among both parents and health care professionals. Many countries are also facing an increasingly active and vociferous anti-vaccination lobby that threatens to reduce vaccine uptake and leave significant pockets of unvaccinated and undervaccinated individuals that remain susceptible to infection. Consequently, improved surveillance and thorough cased-based reporting and laboratory confirmation are even more critical for determining the risk groups and targeting measles and rubella elimination activities.

Discussion

Despite the progress that has been made with measles elimination it appears that in addition to importation of measles virus from countries outside the Region there is persistent circulation of strains within Europe, especially its western part. More molecular epidemiology and analysis is required, but it is clear that immunization gaps exist in most countries and it is likely that these susceptible populations will eventually experience measles outbreaks.

The quality and extent of surveillance data on CRS in the European Region remain inadequate for making an accurate assessment of CRS incidence in the Region. Some countries have only recently added CRS requirements to their surveillance systems and laboratory confirmation systems.

For some countries in western Europe it appears difficult to justify the additional expense of comprehensive surveillance for measles and rubella given the current scarcity of funding for health and the nature of national health funding priorities. Although the frequency of outbreaks in any one country is low, the cost of outbreak management in western Europe can be very high. Rubella is seen as a very mild disease, but the management and long-term support costs for CRS cases are high. More information and analysis on cost—effectiveness of enhanced surveillance for measles and rubella in countries with long-standing control programmes may be helpful.

Plenary Session 2. Process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region

Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components

The documentation process for verification of Regional measles and rubella elimination is described in the document Eliminating measles and rubella. Framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region published by WHO/Europe. The verification process uses an on-going, evidence-based approach that includes annual status reporting and review of progress and indicators. The ongoing review will be undertaken by independent experts not involved in the managerial or operational aspects of the national immunization programme, including its laboratory and surveillance components. Evidence-based data are required on population immunity, disease epidemiology, and the quality of surveillance. Additional evidence is requested on monitoring sustainability of the national immunization programme and public acceptance of measles and rubella elimination goals and achievements. The six components for annual reporting of the status of verification are listed in the below table.

Components	Possible data source
Population immunity against measles and rubella	WHO/UNICEF Joint Reporting Form
Epidemiology of measles, rubella and CRS during the previous 36 months	Joint Reporting Form, routine surveillance; sentinel sites (CRS)
Molecular epidemiology of measles and rubella viruses	Routine surveillance, laboratory reports
Performance of measles, rubella and CRS surveillance	Routine surveillance, laboratory reports
Sustainability of the national immunization programme	WHO/UNICEF Joint Reporting Form
Public acceptance of the measles/rubella elimination goal	Ad hoc surveys, operational research, public information sources

The following schedule of activities for establishing the verification process was developed.

Jan 2012	Feb-Mar 2012	Apr-Aug 2012	Sep-Dec2012	Jan-Dec 2013
First meeting of Measles and Rubella Regional Verification Committee (RVC)	Preliminary feedback to countries. Develop guidelines for documenting verification	Finalization of the Annual Progress Report format	Joint RCV/NVC meeting (Tashkent, October 2012)	Joint RVC/NVC meetings (Copenhagen, January 2012; Rome & Sofia, February 2013)
	Establishing national ve (NVC)	rification committees	Initiate collection and verification of national data	Collection and verification of national data. Deadline for first

	annual status report
	31 July 2013

Discussion

Data on measles and rubella seroprevalence that results from serosurveys can be submitted by countries as supporting evidence, providing the data and the nature of the exercise are fully explained. Several countries in Europe already have many years of seroprevalence data from serosurveys that can be used as supportive evidence, but all countries should attempt to provide as much of the documentation as possible described in the Measles and Rubella Elimination Framework.

The elimination processes for measles and rubella are not strictly synchronized, and it is possible that because of differences between the pathogens and in the efficacy of the different vaccines, elimination of measles and rubella will not be achieved at the same time. For this reason the reporting form requests separate information on the status of measles and rubella elimination.

Definitions and terminology to be used in the Regional verification process

Disease elimination is defined as: "the absence of endemic measles or rubella cases in a defined geographical area for a period of at least 12 months, in the presence of a well-performing surveillance system." Endemic transmission is considered to be the continuous circulation of a virus strain or strains in a defined geographical area or epidemiologically linked areas. Endemic transmission is considered to have been re-established when epidemiologic and laboratory evidence indicates uninterrupted virus circulation for a period of 12 months or more in an area where disease was previously eliminated. Regional elimination can be declared only after 36 months of the absence of detected endemic measles or rubella in all MS of the WHO European Region.

In line with the regional surveillance guidelines, cases of measles and rubella are classified as follows.

Suspected measles case:	a case with signs and symptoms consistent with measles clinical criteria:
	 fever and maculopapular rash and
	 cough or coryza (runny nose) or
	 conjunctivitis (red eyes).
Suspected rubella case:	a case with signs and symptoms consistent with rubella clinical criteria:
	 maculopapular rash and cervical, suboccipital or post-auricular adenopathy, or arthralgia/arthritis
Laboratory-confirmed measles case:	a suspected case that meets the laboratory criteria for measles case
	confirmation
Laboratory-confirmed rubella case:	a suspected case that meets the laboratory criteria for rubella surveillance
	case confirmation
Epidemiologically linked measles case:	a suspected case that has not been adequately tested by laboratory and
	that was in contact with a laboratory-confirmed measles case 7–18 days
	before the onset of symptoms.
Epidemiologically linked rubella case:	a suspected case, that has not been adequately tested by laboratory, and
	that was in contact with a laboratory-confirmed rubella case 12–23 days
	prior to onset of the disease.
Clinically compatible measles case:	a suspected case that has not been adequately tested by laboratory and
	has not been epidemiologically linked to a confirmed measles case.
Clinically compatible rubella case:	a suspected case that has not been adequately tested by laboratory and
	has not been epidemiologically linked to a confirmed rubella case.

Discarded case:	a suspected case that was investigated and discarded, either through negative results of adequate laboratory testing for measles and rubella or by an epidemiological link to a laboratory-confirmed case of another disease; in addition, IgM-positive cases in recent vaccine recipients can be discarded if they meet all of the following criteria: - history of vaccination with relevant vaccine 7 days to 6 weeks prior to specimen collection; - onset of rash 7–14 days after vaccination; - no evidence of virus transmission revealed by active search in community; - no history of travel to areas in which the virus is known to be circulating.
Imported case:	a case exposed outside the country during the 7-18 days (measles) or 12–23 days (rubella) prior to rash onset as supported by epidemiological and/or virological evidence.
Import-related case:	a locally-acquired measles or rubella infection occurring as part of a chain of transmission originating in an imported case, as supported by epidemiological and/or virological evidence.

Discussion

Meeting participants from most countries were familiar with the terminology and have been using the provided case definitions. The only exception is the definition of 'discarded case'. Several countries have not previously considered defining or collecting information on all suspected measles or rubella cases that were subsequently discarded. In some countries collecting this information will require the collation of data from two or more different sources.

Final case classifications for measles and rubella must be based on linked laboratory, clinical and epidemiological criteria. All of these criteria, including requirements for and interpretation of laboratory results have been provided by WHO in the various surveillance and laboratory guidelines. Countries should follow the most appropriate algorithm for final case classification based on characteristics of the suspected case. Once an outbreak has been confirmed no further samples should be tested except when an outbreak continues for more than 3 months, at which time additional representative samples may be collected and tested to confirm the nature of the on-going outbreak.

It is recognized that using standardized case definitions and a systematic reporting framework results in some cases being omitted from national reports, but this number is likely to be very low. The programmatic advantages of having a single standardized system across the Region far outweigh the disadvantage of missing a very small number of cases. It should also be noted that the standard case definitions only apply to clinically suspected cases; they do not apply to the results of antibody screening programmes. For the reporting system to work effectively it is essential to be able to link clinical and laboratory data through the unique epidemiological identification number assigned by the national immunization programme. This number is assigned by the national programme only to suspected cases of measles or rubella.

There are some differences between the case definitions provided by WHO and those provided by ECDC. When reporting to WHO or ECDC the countries select which case definition to use. WHO requires countries to report on all suspected cases of measles and rubella, whereas ECDC requires reporting of confirmed cases only. This is a complex issue, and WHO and ECDC have been working together to solve this problem.

Reporting of unconfirmed suspected cases is a challenge for some countries and further guidance on how to report or discard these cases would be helpful. There is also a level of concern over the investigation and reporting of vaccine-modified measles cases that present with atypical symptoms. It is possible that these cases may become a greater problem in future.

Several countries have more than one system for investigation and reporting of suspected measles and rubella cases. National reporting systems collect aggregated or case-based data, but the latter is critical for diseases targeted for elimination and eradication. It is essential that at national level the clinical, epidemiological and laboratory information is merged into a single dataset. This is required for verification of the measles/rubella elimination process, but more importantly, is essential for national programme managers to analyse, assess and report on performance of national programmes.

Final case classifications for measles and rubella are based on linked laboratory, clinical and epidemiological criteria. All of these criteria, including requirements for elimination, have been provided by WHO in the various surveillance and laboratory guidelines. In addition, surveillance systems must be capable of classifying cases by origin of infection, in order to document the absence of endemic cases. Countries should follow the algorithm for final case classification based on characteristics of a case.

Once an outbreak has been confirmed, there is no further need for additional laboratory testing. If an outbreak continues for more than 3 months or other territories have been affected, additional representative samples should be collected and tested to confirm the nature of the on-going outbreak.

All definitions provided through WHO are for surveillance purposes only and are not necessarily appropriate for clinical diagnosis. All countries should be reporting measles and rubella data according to the surveillance definitions provided, regardless of the case definitions in use for clinical diagnosis. It is accepted that the positive-predictive value of IgM testing may be low, particularly during an outbreak, but it is the standard laboratory confirmation method that can be applied on a global basis and experience has shown that it is appropriate for surveillance purposes. For routine reporting it is strongly recommended that countries only report laboratory results from suspected cases and not random screening programmes.

Despite the calls for improved rubella surveillance, use of data collected through routine screening of pregnant women in the absence of clinical criteria for rubella is strongly discouraged. If testing in pregnancy was conducted with standard rubella IgM testing kits used for routine surveillance, these results can be false positive. Any suspected rubella case in pregnancy requires specific clinical and laboratory investigation, and it is out of the scope of disease surveillance.

Essential criteria and performance indicators

The criterion for verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region is defined as: "Absence of endemic measles and rubella cases in all Member States for a period of at least 36 months from the last known case, due to complete interruption of endemic virus transmission, in the presence of high-quality surveillance." In addition, at least 95% of the population should be protected against measles and rubella. Validating achievement of these criteria depends on the information documented in the NVC annual reports. Sources for this information

may come from routine immunization coverage reported through the annual WHO/UNICEF Joint Reporting Form (JRF). Other sources of information on population immunity may include routine and sentinel diseases surveillance data, laboratory reports, and data from other surveys or operational research providing additional information to supplement routine reporting. Carefully planned seroprevalence studies could be conducted, for example, to supplement existing surveillance and immunization coverage reports. However, serosurveys are costly and should not be conducted routinely. Vaccine supply reports and vaccination coverage surveys can also supplement and help to verify the reliability of routine reported data.

Standard surveillance performance indicators include:

- timeliness and completeness of reporting;
- laboratory investigation rate;
- rate of discarded cases;
- documentation on chains of transmission and outbreaks with genotype dates;
- documentation on sources of infection; and
- adequacy of case-based investigation.

The surveillance performance target for timeliness and completeness of monthly reporting from reporting unit to national level is >80%. Case-based data should be reported to the WHO European Region monthly by the 25th of the following month. In addition, >80% of clinical measles and rubella cased should be tested by a proficient laboratory. To monitor the activity of case-based surveillance, countries should also report the number of discarded measles and rubella cases per 100 000 population, even in the absence of diseases. The elimination target for the rate of discarded cases is at least 2 discarded measles/rubella cases annually per 100 000 population nationally and in >80% of subnational administrative units.

In terms of measuring the adequacy of investigation, countries should conduct adequate investigations of suspected cases of measles and rubella within 48 hours of notification in at least 80% of reported suspect cases. The criteria and performance indicators for measles and rubella elimination are described in detail in: *Eliminating measles and rubella. Framework for the verification process in the WHO European Region*.

Discussion

Countries that use a very broad 'rash and fever' suspected case definition can easily meet the required discarded case rate, as most suspected cases will be discarded. MS that have adopted more rigorously defined 'suspected measles' and 'suspected rubella' case definitions will discard fewer suspected cases and find it more difficult to meet the rate requirement. It must be borne in mind, however, that for many countries changing case definitions requires a change in national legislation, which can be a very lengthy and expensive process. There are many remaining questions at national level over who is responsible for collecting full data on discarded cases and how this data will be linked with other surveillance information. It is important that countries provide feedback to the Secretariat on how best to make the technical requirements for validation more appropriate to and compatible with the situation experienced in countries. This remains a learning process for all concerned and comments and suggestions on how to improve the process are welcome.

It is recognized that the criteria are territory specific – internal circulation of virus can more easily be established in large countries than in small countries. Neighbouring small countries can establish circulation across national borders. Greater specification and definition may be helpful for the reporting of data on specific subpopulations or groups that may span national borders. From documentation provided it is not clear that a distinction is drawn between 'migrant' and 'immigrant' populations, for example. In several countries these represent very different groups presenting different epidemiological profiles and risks. The three-year period between the last detected case and verification of elimination should provide enough time for any continuing circulation to be detected, regardless of whether it is in a single large country or in a group of neighbouring small countries. Verification is an on-going process that will most likely be modified as experience is gained. Countries are welcome to discuss and comment on the process.

Establishment of national verification committees – terms of reference and relationship with the RVC and the WHO Secretariat

The NVC is the national body composed of experts appointed by the Ministry of Health, who are responsible for verifying and documenting evidence on the status of measles and rubella elimination in their respective countries. The mission of the NVC is to:

- establish, review and monitor the verification process in the respective country;
- prepare and submit a national status report to the WHO Secretariat; and
- advocate for improving vaccination and surveillance.

The NVCs should report to respective health ministers and to the RVC through the WHO Secretariat. An NVC does not declare measles and rubella elimination at the national level. It is the mission of the RVC to declare elimination at regional level.

It is recommended that NVCs are composed of a maximum of 5 members, including a designated chairperson, a secretary, and 2–3 additional members. The members should be recognized specialists from various fields, such as clinical medicine, laboratory science, epidemiology and other public health specialists. Participation in the NVC is on a voluntary basis. The members should not be involved in the managerial or operational aspects of their respective immunization programmes, or in laboratory or surveillance systems associated with measles and rubella elimination. Members should not have direct responsibility for achievement of the goal of elimination at either regional or national levels. The functions of the NVC include the following:

- prepare the plan of action for the documentation and verification of measles and rubella elimination in the country (this can be conducted in consultation with the immunization programme managers);
- define responsibilities, products, resources and a time frame for activities;
- compile and analyse the information from the national immunization programme, national surveillance institutions, and surveillance laboratories;
- propose alternative solutions when data on the components of the verification process are not available;
- advise the national immunization programme, laboratory, surveillance teams and the Ministry of Health on the verification process, requirements and goals;

- assess available evidence and progress on achieving the elimination goals (if deemed necessary and appropriate, NVCs should conduct field visits to monitor progress, assess quality and validate their analysis and conclusions);
- prepare and submit the Measles and Rubella Elimination Annual Status Report to national health authorities, who will then officially present the documentation to the WHO Secretariat.

The VPI programme of the WHO Regional Office for Europe, as Secretariat of the RVC, is the medium through which the RVC and NVCs communicate. Regional RVC meetings will be organized by the Secretariat, at least once a year. Additional regional or subregional meetings may be organized as needs arise or at the request of the RVC.

Discussion

There was a common concern among representatives from smaller countries over the requirement for NVC members to be experts not formally involved in implementation of the national immunization programme. Many countries feel they lack sufficient experts with both the technical background and the professional experience to meet this requirement. However, all countries in the Region successfully established appropriate polio National Certification Committees, for which the same requirement for lack of involvement in implementation polio eradication activities was enforced. While the restrictions thus placed on smaller countries is recognized, it is essential that the potential for a conflict of interests is avoided. Clearly the head of the NVC must not be responsible for implementing operational aspects of the immunization programme. There are no restrictions on members of the NVC being members of other professional or scientific committees, providing they have no role in operational implementation of measles and rubella elimination activities, or of being experts from other countries. It must be remembered, however, that it is the NVC and not the Ministry of Health or the national immunization programme that is responsible for preparing and submitting the country's annual verification report.

There was considerable discussion over what may or may not constitute a conflict of interests. There is a standard WHO *declaration of conflict of interests* form that countries may use as a template for establishing their own form if it is felt one is necessary.

Establishment of the NVC is a national function and it is expected that funding and resources will be provided by national authorities. NVC members function on a voluntary basis; there should be no salary or fees other than reimbursement for personal expenses incurred. It should also be clear that NVC members are not expected to undertake surveillance activities themselves, but should be in a position to review surveillance activities and results.

Group work Session 1: Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating Member States

In each meeting participants divided into three or four groups to discuss the following:

- national goals and strategies
- population immunity measures
- surveillance performance indicators
- progress towards elimination goals.

Feedback from the groups

Meeting in Tashkent (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Republic of Moldova, Russian Federation, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan)

- All countries have goals and strategies in place for measles elimination and were at varying stages of implementation.
- All have active programmes to improve population immunity, disease surveillance systems and laboratory capabilities to support the elimination goals.
- All, with the exception of Ukraine, were at the time of the meeting achieving high immunization coverage, although in the past some countries experienced temporary declines, primarily from vaccine shortages.
- Nine of the 12 countries had established their NVC: the remaining three countries were in the process of establishing their committees.

Meeting in Copenhagen (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom)

- Most of the countries have national strategies defined, either as distinct strategies or combined in broader national health strategies. For some representatives, however, there was some confusion over the definition of a national strategic plan for immunization. Some were concerned that although a national strategy exists there is no single document describing this strategy.
- The issue of completeness of reporting is complex and there is a need to clearly define the level of reporting within countries that can be used to document completeness. Information exists on the number and rate of discarded cases, but additional work will be required to collate, analyse and report this information.
- All MS in this meeting have high levels of immunization coverage and long-standing surveillance systems, but some have no mandatory reporting for rubella and are unlikely to adopt this in the near future.
- There remains an issue of how to exchange and collate surveillance information generated by different components of the national surveillance system.
- There was concern over discrepancies between national data and the WHO country profile data. Additional work is required to compare the data sets and make them compatible.
- Relatively few of the countries had yet to formally establish their NVCs. Those that had not planned to do so following this meeting.

Meeting in Rome (Cyprus, France, Greece, Israel, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain)

- Although there is political commitment to measles and rubella elimination, this was not reflected in the level of funding and resources provided to implement the programmes.
- Relatively large measles- and rubella-susceptible groups continue to exist in many countries.
 These groups include young adults and a range of different age and social groups, reflecting sequential changes that have occurred in national immunization schedules over the past few years.

- It remains very difficult to monitor immunization coverage and deliver immunization services to some immigrant, migrant and other marginalized groups. Solutions need to be found to the problem of providing immunization services to these groups.
- A large numbers of indicators are being requested and some will be difficult to collect, but
 many were already being collected by national programmes. Information on discarded cases
 and completeness of reporting may be difficult to collect, and the timeliness of investigation
 criterion will be difficult to achieve.
- The verification process requires national resource allocation at a time when immunization services are competing for resources with other health programmes. The priority level of measles and rubella elimination needs to be raised at national level to ensure adequate resources.

Meeting in Sofia (Albania, Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Turkey)

- All countries have immunization plans and standard operating procedures but may lack
 defined elimination strategies, particularly for rubella. For some a new legal instrument will
 be required to establish an elimination strategy.
- All countries use the measles/mumps/rubella (MMR) vaccine and several had recently conducted supplemental immunization activities (SIAs) using MMR.
- Most countries now have mandatory reporting for measles and rubella, but not CRS. CRS surveillance continues to be a challenge as case investigation and data collection is often incomplete.
- Most of the requested performance indicators are feasible, but the timeliness and completeness indicators will be a challenge to achieve.
- To clarify the documentation process, the measles and rubella elimination annual status report was reviewed and the SharePoint workspace tool was demonstrated.

The documentation process provides a record on the progress toward elimination by using the data compiled by national immunization programmes, the surveillance system and other relevant information collected by the health system. These data are verified as complete and accurate by the NVC, and reported on an annual basis to the RVC through the WHO Secretariat. The RVC then determines if the NVC annual reports are valid, complete, representative and consistent. The first annual NVC report, to address data for the period 2010–2012 was due by 31 July 2013. Thereafter, the annual NVC documentation report will cover only a one-year period.

The Measles and Rubella Elimination Annual Status Report includes three sections.

- The national verification committee status and its activities: describes the members of the NVC, their activities during the year, and a summary of the status of elimination using supportive evidence.
- The country measles and rubella profile: provides the national immunization programme
 goals and strategies, and describes the routine immunization schedule and the surveillance
 system. This section also provides an account of progress towards elimination in terms of
 vaccination coverage and the incidence of measles and rubella, and the number of CRS
 cases.

An update of general programme activities: this reports the general programme activities
concerning immunization programme history and any policy changes, routine immunization
coverage and the methods used for determining the coverage. This section also provides any
additional information, such as supplemental immunization data, surveys and studies which
support the elimination verification process.

The annual report also requests information on the sustainability of the national immunization programme in areas such as vaccine supply and programme funding from the government. A request is also made for documentation of evidence of general public and health care professional acceptance for measles and rubella elimination. Examples of evidence of acceptance include: surveys, and advocacy, information and educational materials developed. The NVC annual report concludes with a description of the NVC plan for the next year. Further detail on tasks and responsibilities, definitions and instructions on completing the annual report are provided in the Measles and Rubella Elimination Annual Status Report 2012, which was provided to the participants.

Discussion

Ideally the NVC and the national authorities should all have access to the same data, and the national authority should be responsible for all data entry, with the data being reviewed by the NCV. Systems are different in different countries, so MS should adopt an approach most suited to their conditions. Regardless of the system followed, the NVC should verify all information for submission, and the national authorities should authorise reporting of the data. There is a well-established system for polio certification reporting that is followed by all countries. The measles/rubella reporting system should be similar, but probably more flexible in the extent and nature of information that can be submitted. The WHO Secretariat is primarily interested in the report, not in the steps leading up to the report, and countries are free to follow the system most appropriate to their circumstances.

There was discussion on the requirement for reporting MMR coverage. For the purposes of the first Annual Status Report countries should provide information on MMR vaccine coverage with the first dose and coverage with the second dose by age cohort, if this information is available. The global requirement is for coverage with 2 doses of measles-containing vaccine (MCV) and the data provided by countries should reflect this requirement.

The first report was to include all data from the past 3 years (2010 – 2012). Countries were urged to send their NVC-accepted reports to the Secretariat as soon as possible and not to wait for the deadline.. For the first report all available data from 2010 to 2012 was to be submitted. Subsequent reports will only require information from the most recent year. Submitted reports should be signed by the NVC members, either electronically for electronic submissions, or physically for hard-copy submissions. It would be beneficial to the regional review process if countries could also submit a short summary of measles/rubella activities that took place between the initiation of national measles and rubella vaccination and 2010.

The proposed verification process is based on the approach successfully used for certification of polio elimination, but remains a process in development. The proposed system had yet to be tested and the first Annual Status Report was to be the first test of this system. Experience gained by all will be instrumental in subsequent review and possible modification of the report requirements.

It was recognized that the request for additional supporting information remains unstructured, because of the different data collection and reporting systems in place in the 53 different MS. Space is provided to report on specific additional activities and results of studies, but without a specific reporting format as yet. Again, as experience is gained with verification status reporting it may be possible to introduce a more structured approach to the reporting of additional information.

Barriers and solutions for immunizing hard to reach communities (presented by Svetla Tsolova and Irina Dinca, ECDC, only at the meeting in Sofia).

In many European countries vaccines continue to be underused. The reasons for this are complex, but false beliefs, ignorance and lack of advocacy are often at the root of failing vaccination strategies. Information dissemination and communication play key roles in increasing the use of vaccines and in strengthening immunization programmes. Improving knowledge about immunization and confidence in vaccines among decision-makers, the general public and health care workers remains a major goal in the fight against infectious diseases. The VENICE II Consortium has produced a review of outbreaks and barriers to MMR vaccination coverage among hard-to reach populations in Europe (published by ECDC). This review includes key recommendations for action to improve vaccine coverage among hard-to-reach populations and to decrease the risk of measles and rubella outbreaks.

ECDC is also developing a toolkit for engaging in social media activities promoting MMR vaccination called "Let's talk about protection". The toolkit is being tailored to specific national requirements in Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Romania where it will be tested.

Discussion

Almost all countries in the Region face some level of vaccine refusal, from a range of different groups, including hard-to-reach communities. It is essential that any activities undertaken to reach these communities avoid discrimination and alienation of the communities. It is also important to identify the highest priority issues in each individual country and address these first, rather than simply tackling those problems that are easiest to solve.

Group work session 2: Priority actions to meet the 2015 elimination goal

Participants were again divided into three or four groups to discuss the following:

- priority actions to maintain and increase vaccination coverage among children and adults;
- priority actions to improve and sustain surveillance for measles and rubella/CRS;
- outline of action plan for documentation and verification of measles and rubella elimination
- finalization, endorsement and feedback to WHO Secretariat.

Feedback from the groups

Meeting in **Tashkent** (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Republic of Moldova, Russian Federation, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan).

- More work is needed to gain support from the medical professionals, political leaders and the public for measles and rubella elimination.
- More effort is needed to make the measles and rubella elimination goal a more recognized priority of the respective ministries of health.

- The importance of improving awareness of measles, rubella and CRS must be emphasized to clinicians to reinforce the message that measles and rubella remain a public health threat.
- More effort is needed to improve CRS case detection and surveillance.
- NVC could be included in the development of plans of action, assessing surveillance quality, and identifying additional resources for the elimination effort.

Meeting in **Copenhagen** (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, The Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom)

- To improve coverage, particularly among underimmunized subpopulations it may be
 necessary to decrease the age at which the first dose of MMR is given. If the dose is given
 before 12 months of age, this dose should not be considered as part of the individual
 vaccination record, and a person should subsequently receive two doses as per the national
 schedule.
- Although coverage is high for the first dose (MCV1), coverage drops for the second dose
 (MCV2). This can be addressed by enforcing MCV2 immunization through mandatory schoolentry immunization activities. There are also large subpopulations, such as young adults and
 health care workers (HCWs), among which MCV2 coverage is low enough to place the group
 at risk of outbreak. These can be addressed by providing more information on immunization
 and through targeted SIAs.
- There is underreporting of cases, particularly during outbreaks. This needs greater advocacy
 for surveillance through engaging key stakeholders and improved HCW training on
 immunization. Improved surveillance information recording and exchange through better
 reporting software would also improve the situation.
- Documenting rubella elimination will be difficult in MS that have no mandatory rubella reporting; and some other form of documentation will be required.
- A joint letter from WHO and ECDC to MS ministries of health promoting immunization training and sharing of information may be helpful.
- There is a need to address the anti-vaccination groups, parents refusing to vaccinate their children and HCWs failing to support immunization services.
- A strategy is needed to increase awareness, provide information and educate the public and HCWs on both the benefits of vaccination and dangers associated with vaccine-preventable diseases. Basic information and clear messages could be provided by national authorities in different languages as necessary.

Meeting in Rome (Cyprus, France, Greece, Israel, Italy, Malta, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain)

- Different countries have different specific problems with regard to increasing vaccine coverage and there is a need to look closely at the roots of the problems. There are many possible solutions, but most only apply to specific problems.
- There remain substantial subpopulations with suboptimal vaccine coverage and these are
 the highest priority for immunization, and the most difficult to reach. Opportunities do exist
 for providing vaccine to some of these groups, at entrance to school or the military for
 example, and approaches should be taken to address as many of these subpopulations as
 possible.

- There is an underreporting of measles in several countries. Greater efforts are required to raise awareness of the need to report suspected measles cases to the national programme.
- Surveillance for measles is better than surveillance for rubella, but for both collection of data
 on discarded cases is a challenge with the current reporting systems. The move towards
 establishment of national integrated surveillance systems offers the possibility of improving
 surveillance for all vaccine-preventable diseases.
- There is a need for more technical meetings on measles and rubella elimination together with workshops on all aspects of the elimination initiative. Improved information exchange within national health sectors on the goals, targets and required resources is also needed.
- All countries should make use of the opportunities provided by European Immunization
 Week to promote immunization services and goals.
- The economic crisis is resulting in cuts to immunization programmes that may be reflected in reduced performance in the future.
- There is an urgent need for strong advocacy at high political levels to prevent further cuts to immunization services. Some data on the economic benefits of vaccination may be helpful in persuading national decision-makers.
- The NVC should provide support in development of action plans and collection of background documentation.

Meeting in **Sofia** (Albania, Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Turkey)

- Greater effort is needed to achieve and keep ≥95% coverage in the general population and in subpopulations.
- Education of ethnic minorities on the value of vaccination is important in many countries. For example, ECDC has established a project on educating health care providers in communicating with Roma populations.
- It is essential to identify hard-to-reach populations and tailor strategies specifically to them.
- The anti-vaccination movement is growing, especially among homeopathy, anthroposophical and religious groups. Strategies are needed to deal effectively with the anti-vaccination movement.
- Efforts to integrate surveillance and immunization monitoring data by online electronic personal databases are ongoing in many countries, but rubella surveillance, integration of laboratory data and information from private health care institutions remains a challenge.
- Case-based surveillance is expensive and requires more financial support from national governments. In many cases the quality of data is not yet strong enough for verification purposes.
- There is a need for RVC members to visit countries to raise awareness of the verification process.

Annex 1: Provisional programmes (by meeting)

Intercountry Meeting on Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region , 23-24 October 2012, Tashkent, Uzbekistan

23 October 2012

<u>Plenary session 1</u>: Regional measles and rubella elimination

09.00 - 09.30 **Opening**

Ministry of Health, Uzbekistan

Dr Dina Pfeifer, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Prof. Susanna Esposito, RVC chair

09.30 - 10.15 Regional measles and rubella elimination. Update from the WHO Regional Office for Europe.

Dr Dina Pfeifer, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

Plenary Session 2: Process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region

10.15 – 11.00 Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

 $11.30-12.00 \qquad \qquad \textbf{Definitions and terminology to be used in the Regional verification process}$

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

12.00 – 12.30 Essential criteria and performance indicators

Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

12:30 – 13:30 Lunch

13:30 – 14:00 Establishment of National verification committee – terms of references and the relationship with the RVC and

the WHO secretariat

Dr Mark Muscat, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

Group works session 1: Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating Member States

14:00 – 16:00 i. National goals and strategies

Feedback from group work

ii. Population immunity measures

iii. Surveillance performance indicatorsiv. Progress towards elimination goals

24 October 2012

16.30 - 17.15

9:00 – 9:45 Documentation process. Measles and rubella elimination annual status report

Dr Mark Muskat, Ajay Goel, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

<u>Group works session 2:</u> Workplan for verification of measles and rubella elimination in participating Member States

09.45 – 12.45 i. Identify priority areas

ii. Develop outline of action plan for documentation and verification of measles and rubella elimination

iii. Finalization, endorsement and feed back to WHO Secretariat

12:15 – 12:45 Feedback from group work

12:45 – 13:00 Closure

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region. A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting 29–30 January 2013, Copenhagen, Denmark

29 January 2013

Plenary session 1: Regional measles and rubella elimination

09.00 – 09.30 **Opening**

Dr Guenael Rodier, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Dr Pierluigi Lopalco, VPD program coordinator, ECDC

Dr Günter Pfaff, RVC member

Regional measles and rubella elimination. Update from the WHO Regional Office for Europe.

Dr Dina Pfeifer, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

Plenary Session 2: Process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region

10.45 – 11.30 Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

11.30 – 12.00	Definitions and terminology to be used in the Regional verification process	
	Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe	
	Discussion	
12.00 – 12.30	Essential criteria and performance indicators	
	Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe	
	Discussion	
12:30 – 13:00	Establishment of National verification committee – terms of references and the relationship with the RVC and the WHO secretariat	
	Dr Mark Muscat, WHO Regional Office for Europe	
	Discussion	
Group works session 1: Member States	Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating	
14:00 – 16:00	v. National goals and strategies vi. Population immunity measures vii. Surveillance performance indicators viii. Progress towards elimination goals	
16.30 – 17.15	Feedback from group work	
30 January 2013		
9:00 – 9:45	Documentation process. Measles and rubella elimination annual status report	
	Dr Mark Muscat, Ajay Goel, WHO Regional Office for Europe	
	Discussion	
Group works session 2: Priority actions to meet 2015 elimination goal		
09.45 – 12.00	 i. Identify priority actions to maintain and increase vaccination coverage among children and adults ii. Identify priority actions to improve and sustain surveillance for measles and rubella/CRS iii. Develop outline of action plan for documentation and verification of measles and rubella elimination iv. Finalization, endorsement and feed back to WHO Secretariat 	
13:00 – 13:30	Feedback from group work	
13:30 – 14:00	Closure	
14:00 – 16:00	RVC private meetings with WHO Secretariat and ECDC	
Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region. A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting		

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region. A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting 12–13 February 2013, Rome, Italy

12 February 2013

Plenary session 1: Regional measles and rubella elimination

09.00 - 09.30	Opening
	Dr Maria Grazia Pompa, Ministry of Health, Italy
	Dr Pierluigi Lopalco, VPD program coordinator, ECDC
	Dr Robin Biellik, RVC member
09.30 – 10.15	Regional measles and rubella elimination. Update from the WHO Regional Office for Europe.
	Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe
	Discussion
Plenary Session 2: Process	s of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European
Region	
40.45 44.20	
10.45 – 11.30	Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components
	Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe
	Discussion
11.30 – 12.00	Definitions and terminology to be used in the Regional verification process
	Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe
	Discussion
12.00 – 12.30	Essential criteria and performance indicators
	Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe
	Discussion
12:30 – 13:00	Establishment of National verification committee – terms of references and the relationship with the RVC and the WHO secretariat
	Dr Vusala Allahverdiyeva, WHO Regional Office for Europe
	Discussion
Group works session 1: Member States	Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating
14:00 – 16:00	ix. National goals and strategies
	x. Population immunity measures xi. Surveillance performance indicators
	xii. Progress towards elimination goals
16.30 – 17.15	Feedback from group work

13 February 2013

9:00 – 9:45 Documentation process. Measles and rubella elimination annual status report

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

Group works session 2: Priority actions to meet 2015 elimination goal

09.45 – 12.00 v. Identify priority actions to maintain and increase vaccination coverage among children and adults

vi. Identify priority actions to improve and sustain surveillance for measles and rubella/CRS

vii. Develop outline of action plan for documentation and verification of measles and rubella elimination

viii. Finalization, endorsement and feed back to WHO Secretariat

13:00 – 13:30 Feedback from group work

14:00 – 16:00 RVC private meetings with WHO Secretariat and ECDC

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region. A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting 27–28 February 2013, Sofia, Bulgaria

Wednesday 27 February 2013

Plenary session 1: Regional measles and rubella elimination

09.00 – 09.30 **Opening**

Ministry of Health of Bulgaria

Dr Svetla Tsolova, ECDC

Dr Andrey Lobanov, Vice-chairman of the RVC

 $09.30-10.15 \\ {\bf Regional\ measles\ and\ rubella\ elimination.\ Update\ from\ the\ WHO\ Regional\ Office\ for\ Europe.}$

Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

Plenary Session 2: Process of verification of measles and rubella elimination in the WHO European Region

 $10.45-11.30 \qquad \qquad \textbf{Framework for the verification process: basic principles and components}$

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

11.30 – 12.00 Definitions and terminology to be used in the Regional verification process

Dr Sergei Deshevoi, WHO Regional Office for Europe

Discussion

12.00 - 12.30Essential criteria and performance indicators Dr Dragan Jankovic, WHO Regional Office for Europe Discussion 12.30 - 13.00Establishment of National verification committee - terms of references and the relationship with the RVC and the WHO secretariat Dr Mark Muscat, WHO Regional Office for Europe Discussion Group works session 1: Performance indicators of measles and rubella elimination and availability of relevant data in participating Member States 14.00 - 16.00xiii. National goals and strategies Population immunity measures xiv. xv. Surveillance performance indicators xvi. Progress towards elimination goals 16.30 - 17.15Feedback from group work Thursday 28 February 2013 09.00 - 09.45Documentation process. Measles and rubella elimination annual status report Dr Mark Muscat, WHO Regional Office for Europe Discussion 09.45 - 10.15Barriers and solutions for immunizing hard to reach communities Dr Svetla Tsolova, ECDC Group works session 2: Priority actions to meet 2015 elimination goal 10.45 - 12.30ix. Identify priority actions to maintain and increase vaccination coverage among children and adults x. Identify priority actions to improve and sustain surveillance for measles and rubella/CRS xi. Advocacy and communication xii. Develop outline of action plan for documentation of measles and rubella elimination 13.30 - 14.00Feedback from group work 15.00 - 16.00RVC private meetings with WHO Secretariat and ECDC

Annex 2: List of participants (by meeting)

Intercountry Meeting on Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region, Tashkent, Uzbekistan, 23–24 October 2012

Regional Verification Commission

Robin Biellik Irja Davidkin Susanna Esposito Mira Kojouharova Andrei Lobanov Gunter M. Pfaff

José Ignacio Santos Preciado

United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Abigail Shefer David H Sniadack Laura Zimmerman

Partners

Christian Perronne

President, Haut Conseil de la Santé Publique, France

Armenia

Gayane Melik-Andreasyan

NVC Chair, Director, Research Institute of Epidemiology, Virology and Medical Parasitology

Svetlana Grigoryan

Epidemiologist, Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, Ministry of Health

Azerbaijan

Afag Aliyeva

Head, Immunoprophylaxis Department Republican Center of Hygiene and Epidemiology

Nazifa Mursalova

National Coordinator for surveillance of rotavirus infections, Head of the department of vaccine-preventable diseases, Republican Center of Hygiene and Epidemiology

Nasib Guliyev

NVC Chair, Director, Head Pediatrician Research Institute of Pediatrician, Ministry of Health

Belarus

Inna Karaban

Chief Epidemiologist, Ministry of Health

Belarus

Vladimir Pashkovich

Head, Epidemiological Department, Republican Center for Hygiene, Epidemiology and Public Health

Marina A. Yermalovich

NVC member, Leading Researcher, Immunoprophylaxis Laboratory, Republican Research and Practical Center for Epidemiology and Microbiology

Georgia

Rusudan Chlikadze, Head Specialist, VPD Department, National Centre for Disease Control and Public Health

Vladimer Getia

Head of State Programs, National Centre for Disease Control and Public Health

Khatuna Zakhashvili

Head, Infectious Diseases Unit, National Center for Disease Control and Public Health

Kazakhstan

Saltanat Tursunbekova

Chief Expert, Epidemiological Surveillance Unit, Committee of State Sanitary Epidemiological Surveîllance - Ministry of Health

Elmira Utegenova

Deputy Director, Research-practical Center for sanitary-epidemiological expertize and monitoring

Kyrgyzstan

Rakhat Kadvrova

Head, Department of Infectious Diseases, Bishkek

Olga Safonova

Deputy Head, Republican Centre for Immunoprophylaxis, Ministry of Health

Nurjamal Sheisheeva

Epidemiologist, Immunologist, Republican Centre of Immunoprophilaxis

Republic of Moldova

Valeriu Chicu

Deputy Rector, Professor, Department of Epidemiology, State medical and Pharmaceutical University 'Nicolae Testemitanu'

Anatolie Melnic

Head, Centre for Immunoprophylaxis, National Center for Public Health

Laura Tsurcan

Head, General Epidemiology National Research Centre for Preventive Medicine

Russian Federation

Irina Mikheeva

NVC member, Leading research associate, Central Research Institute of Epidemiology, Ministry of Health

Natalia V. Frolova

Head, Division for Organization of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases Surveillance, Federal Service for Surveillance in the Sphere of Customer Rights Protection

Olga Tsvirkun

Senior researcher, Laboratory of measles prevention, Gabrichevskiy Scientific Research Institute for Epidemiology and Microbiology

Tajikistan

M. A. Atoev

Chief specialist, Department of organization of medical services for mothers, children and family planning, Ministry of Health

Saidbeg Satorov

Director, Scientific Research Institute of Preventive Medicine

Shamsidin Dzhabirov

Director, National Center for Immunization, Ministry of Health

Turkmenistan

Sona Babayeva

NVC Chair, Head of Department, Family Medicine, Turkmen State Medical Institute

Sachly Nuryyeva

Lead Expert, Epidemiological and Parasitologic Control Dept, State San-Epid Service, Ministry of Health and Medical Industry

Ukraine

Olga Gubar

Chief officer, Department of Public Health, Sanitary and Epidemiological Welfare of Population

Iryna Kolesnykova

Head, Department of Epidemiology, Bogomolets National Medical University

Viktor Liashko

Head, Department of Sanitary and Epidemiological Surveillance, State Sanitary and Epidemiological Service of Ukraine, Ministry of Health

Uzbekistan

Turgunpulat A. Daminov

NVC Chair, Head, Children's infectious diseases department, Tashkent State Medical Institute

Lutsiva Kim

Head of Department, Immunoprophylaxis Department Republican Center of State Sanitary Epidemiological Surveillance

Diloram Tursunova

EPI Manager, Ministry of Health

Rapporteur

Mark Weeks Kyrgyzstan

Interpreters

Elena Gornaya

Russian Federation

Georgy G. Pignastyy Russian Federation

WHO Regional Office for Europe

Dina Pfeifer

Sergei Deshevoi

Dragan Jankovic

Gaukhar Abuova

Vusala Allahverdiyeva

Chinara Aidyralieva

Shahin Huseynov

Giorgi Kurtsikashvili

Mark Muscat

Malika Abdusalyamova

Yulduz Ibragimova

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region: A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting, 29–30 January 2013, Copenhagen, Denmark

Regional Verification Commission

Dr Irja Davidkin Dr Gunter Pfaff Elisabeth Daghofer Jean-Paul Klein Reinhild Strauss

Belgium

Frederic Denauw

International Relations Service, FPS Health, Food Chain Safety and Environment

Didier Hue

DO Infectious Diseases in General Population - Public Health and Surveillance, Scientific Institute of Public Health

Magali Wautier

National Reference Center for Measles and Rubella - Section Virology, Scientific Institute of Public Health

Denmark

Peter H. Andersen

Danish Health and Medicines Agency (Statens Serum Institut)

Thea Fischer

Danish Health and Medicines Agency (Statens Serum Institut)

Lisbeth Krause Knudsen

Danish Health and Medicines Agency (Statens Serum Institut)

Anne-Mette Lebech Kjaer Hvidovre Hospital

Estonia

Irina Filippova

Department of CD Surveillance and Control, Health Board

Martin Kadai

Public Health Department, Ministry of Social Affairs

Natalia Kerbo

Department of CD Surveillance and Control, Health Board

Svetlana Rudõka

Laboratory of Communicable Diseases, Health Board

Finland

Mia Kontio

Department of Infectious Disease Surveillance and Control, National Institute for Health and Welfare

Heikki Peltola

Univeristy of Helsinki

Germany

Dorothea Matysiak-Klose

Department for Infectious Disease Epidemiology Vaccination Unit, Robert Koch Institute

Sabine Ursula Reiter

Ministry of Health

Ireland

Colette Bonner

Department of Health

Anna Clarke

Health Service Executive/University College Dublin

Jeff Connell

University College Dublin

Darina O'Flanagan

Health Service Executive, Health Protection Surveillance Centre

Iceland

Thor Gudnason Directorate of Health
Latvia
Jana Feldmane Division of Environmental Health, Ministry of Health of Republic of Latvia
Tatjana Kolupajeva Latvian Infectology Centre, Eastern University Clinical Hospital
Santa Līviņa Department of Public Health, Ministry of Health
Jurijs Perevoščikovs Infectious Disease Risk Analysis and Prevention Department, Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
Liechtenstein (observer)
Marina Jamnicki Abegg Public Health Department, Principality of Liechtenstein
Lithuania
Saulius Caplinskas Centre for Communicable Disease and AIDS
Giedrius Foktas Centre for Communicable Disease and AIDS
Algirdas Griskevicius Clinical Testing Department, National Public Health Surveillance Laboratory
Luxembourg
Judith Hübschen CRP-Santé/Laboratoire Nationale de Santé
Claude Muller CRP-Santé/Laboratoire Nationale de Santé
The Netherlands
Marina Conyn National Institute for Public Health and The Environment (RIVM)
Susan Hahné National Institute for Public Health and The Environment (RIVM)
Helma Ruijs National Institute for Public Health and The Environment (RIVM)
Rob van Binnendijk National Institute for Public Health and The Environment (RIVM)
Norway
Karin Rønning Norwegian Institute of Public Health
Synne Sandbu Norwegian Institute of Public Health

Haraldur Briem Directorate of Health

Sweden
Rose-Marie Carlsson The National Board of Health and Welfare
Anders Tegnell Swedish Institute for Communicable Disease Control (Smittskyddsinstitutet)
Switzerland
Jean-Luc Richard Federal Department of Home Affairs FDHA
Judith Hanhart Federal Department of Home Affairs FDHA
United Kingdom
Kevin Brown Health Protection Agency
David Salisbury Department of Health
United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Laura Zimmerman
European Centre for Disease Prevention & Control (ECDC)
Marta Busana Paloma Carrillo-Santisteve Pier Luigi Lopalco Ülla-Karin Nurm Svetla Tsolova
DG SANCO
Antoon Gijsens
Rapporteur
Ray Sanders
WHO Regional Office for Europe
Dina Pfeifer Robb Butler Sergei Deshevoi Eugene Gavrilin Ajay Goel Shahin Huseynov Dragan Jankovic Mark Muscat Natasha Allen Malika Abdusalyamova
Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region: A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region: A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting, 12–13 February 2013, Rome, Italy

Regional Verification Commission

Kirsti Vainio

Norwegian Institute of Public Health

Greco Donato
Cyprus
Maria Koliou Archbishop Makarios Hospital
George Mitis Immunology Lab NGH
France
Dominique Escourolle Direction générale de la Santé
Daniel Floret La Commission Nationale de Vérification France
Greece
Vasiliki Pogka National Measles and Rubella Reference Laboratory (Hellenic Pasteur Institute)
Maria Theodoridou Chair of the National Verification Committee
Israel
Yair Aboudy Central Virology Laboratory, Public Health Services
Ehud Kaliner Public Health Services, Ministry of Health
Eran Kopel Public Health Services, Ministry of Health
Ella Mendelson Central Virology Laboratory, Public Health Services
Italy
Antonietta Filia Ministero della Salute
Elisabetta Franco Tor Vergata University
Cristina Giambi Ministero della Salute
Maria Grazia Pompa Ministero della Salute
Fabio Magurano Ministero della Salute
Loredana Nicoletti Nicoletti Ministero della Salute
Maria Cristina Rota Ministero della Salute

Robin Biellik Susanna Esposito

Polio Regional Certification Commission

Chris Barbara Ministry for Health, the Elderly and Community Care
Robert Decelis Ministry for Health, the Elderly and Community Care
Anthony Gatt Ministry for Health, the Elderly and Community Care
Miriam Gatt Ministry for Health, the Elderly and Community Care
Portugal
Ana Correia ARS Norte
Teresa Fernandes DGS (Direcção-Geral da Saúde)
Paula Palminha INSA
Cátia Sousa Pinto DGS (Direcção-Geral da Saúde)
San Marino
Andrea Gualtieri Health Authority for Authorization Accredit and Quality of Health Services
Slovenia Katarina Prosenc Trilar National Institute of Public Health
Veronika Ucakar National Institute of Public Health
Marta Vitek Grgic National Institute of Public Health
Breda Zakotnik Unversity Medical Centre Ljubljana
Spain
Raquel Boix Martínez Ministry of Health
J Emilio Echevarría Mayo National Centre of Microbiology
Josefa Masa-Calles National Centre of Epidemiology
United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
Nino Khetsuriani
Rapporteur
Ray Sanders
WHO Regional Office for Europe

Malta

Sergei Deshevoi Dragan Jankovic Vusala Allahverdiyeva

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

Pier Luigi Lopalco Irina Dinca Svetla Tsolova Paloma Carrillo-Santisteve Brenna Deckert

Verification of Measles and Rubella Elimination in the WHO European Region: A joint WHO and ECDC Subregional Meeting, 27-28 February 2013, Sofia, Bulgaria

RVC Members

Andrey Lobanov, Vice-chair Mira Kojouharova

Albania

Silva Bino

Institute of Public Health

Alma Drishti Robo Institute of Public Health

Eduard Kakarriqi Institute of Public Health

Artan Simaku Institute of Public Health

Bulgaria

Radosveta Filipova Ministry of Health

Stefka Krumova

National Center for Infectious and Parasitic Diseases

Angel Kunchev Ministry of Health

Lili Marinova

National Center for Infectious and Parasitic Diseases

Zefira Michneva

National Center for Infectious and Parasitic Diseases

Croatia

Tatjana Nemeth-Blazic

Croatian National Institute of Public Health

Aleksandar Simunovic

Croatian National Institute of Public Health

Valerija Stamenic

Ministry of Health and Social Welfare

Vesna Vucina

Croatian National Institute of Public Health

Hungary

Márta Melles National Centre for Epidemiology Katalin Szomor Némethné National Centre for Epidemiology The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia Elizabeta Jancevska Republic Institute for Health Protection Gordana Kuzmanovska Institute of Public Health Kristina Stavridis Montenegro Olivera Miljanovic Clinical Centre of Montenegro Radica Raicevic Institute of Public Health Zeljka Zekovic Institute of Public Health Poland Włodzimierz Gut National Institute of Public Health - National Institute of Higiene Aleksandra Porada Representing Chief Sanitary Inspector Andrzej Zieliński National Institute of Public Health - National Institute of Higiene Romania Denisa Janta Cantacuzino Institute, rubella and measles laboratory surveillance Emilia Lupulescu National Institute of Public Health, epidemiological rubella and measles surveillance Aurora Stanescu National Institute of Public Health, epidemiological rubella and measles surveillance Laurentiu Zolotusca Ministry of Health, directorate for public health and public health control Serbia Eleonora Gvozdenović Clinical Center of Serbia Milena Kanazir Institut of Public Health "Dr. Milan Jovanovic Batut" Goranka Lončarević Institut of Public Health "Dr. Milan Jovanovic Batut"

Ágnes Danielisz

National Centre for Epidemiology

Publich Health Authority
Turkey
Aslihan Coskun Ministry of Health
Gulay Korukluoglu Refik Saydam National Hygiene Center
Mehmet Ali Torunoglu Ministry of Health
United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Abigail Shefer
Rapporteur
Raymond Sanders
European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
Irina Dinca Senior Expert in Communicable Diseases, Public Health Capacity and Communication
Svetla Tsolova Senior Expert Monitoring and Evaluation, Public Health Capacity and Communication
WHO Regional Office for Europe
Sergei Deshevoi Shahin Huseynov Dragan Jankovic Mark Muscat
Natasha Allen

Jasminka Nedeljkovic

Henrieta Hudeckova Ministry of Health

Publich Health Authority

Slovakia

Jan Mikas

Elena Ticha

Institute of Virology, Vaccines and Sera "Torlak"